ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED  
NOV 12 2013  
SC COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RALPH B. HAYES,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-213261

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge erred in failing to grant Appellant's motion for directed verdict where the only evidence presented by the prosecution was that Appellant allegedly confided in a stranger that he was distraught because he saw the deceased had been murdered in their apartment, but took no action to report the murder to the police.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its October 2011 term, a Greenville County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in a single indictment (2011-GS-23-7681). R.287 (Indictment). The matter proceeded to trial before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker and a jury on October 15, 2012. Judy Munson and Wanda Adams represented the state, Caroline Horlbeck and Teal Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted Appellant of both charges. R. 281, lines 7 – 15. Judge Welmaker sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for the murder charge and to five years' imprisonment for the weapons charge. R. 283, lines 11 – 17.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The prosecutor's opening statement demonstrated the paucity of evidence against Appellant. Acknowledging that a jury would want evidence, such as "the defendant in possession of the murder weapon, the defendant confessing to law enforcement, her DNA on him; things of this nature," in order to convict, the prosecutor candidly admitted she had none. Rather, the evidence she would offer would be "some fingerprint evidence important for where things were found," "a little bit of DNA evidence only relating to [the deceased]," and a conversation between Appellant and a homeless man. R. 2, lines 6 – R. 4, line 4.

On June 13, 2009, Barbara McNeil went to the apartment of the deceased, her sister, because she had not spoken to the deceased in over a week. R. 8, line 15 – R. 9, line 23. Importantly, McNeil found the door closed, but unlocked. R. 10, lines 1 – 3. On the door, McNeil found a note left for the deceased from the person who delivered her food. R. 17, lines 1 – 6. McNeil entered the apartment and found the deceased's body in an upstairs bathroom. R. 10, lines 15 – 18.

McNeil and Janie Ashmore, the deceased's mother, testified that although Appellant and the deceased had been in a romantic relationship for approximately five years and lived together, they did not hear from Appellant after the deceased's death. R. 12, lines 14 – 21; R. 15, lines 6 – 10; R. 17, line 25 – R. 18, line 9; R. 13, lines 9 – 17; R. 19, lines 9-10; R. 19, lines 16-23; R. 20, lines 3-5. Additionally, McNeil and Ashmore admitted that the deceased had a drug problem. R. 13, line 20 – R. 14, line 2; R. 16, lines 20 – 23; R. 21, lines 3-5. Ashmore testified that she never got involved with any of the

deceased's issues relating to her drug use and "never had to bail her out of any situations." R. 21, lines 6-10.<sup>1</sup>

Officer Ashleigh Swanson was the first police officer on the scene in response to the 911 call. R. 77, lines 13 – 22; R. 78, lines 17 – 19. However, the fire department personnel had already entered the residence prior to her arrival. R. 78, lines 11 – 16. R. 81, lines 16 – 20. Swanson found the deceased upstairs in a bathroom partially naked. Although Swanson saw blood in the bathroom, she saw no blood outside the bathroom. R. 79, lines 1 – 8. R. 82, lines 15 – 16; R. 82, lines 20 – 23.

The pathologist testified that the deceased was stabbed twenty-eight times. R. 88, lines 15 – 21. Most of the wounds were superficial. R. 90, lines 22 – 25. However, several stab wounds traumatized the diaphragm and the pleural cavity, which resulted in the deceased being unable to expand her lungs. R. 91, lines 6 – 23. The toxicology results revealed that the deceased had ingested cocaine. R. 92, lines 1 – 10; R. 100, lines 15 – 24. The pathologist opined that the deceased had been dead for days, and a reasonable estimate would be anywhere from three to five days. R. 99, lines 20 – 22. On cross-examination, he testified that it was possible that she had died six days prior, but that it was unlikely due to the state of decomposition. R. 100, lines 4 – 9.<sup>2</sup>

Anthony Murdaugh, who lived near the deceased in June of 2009, recalled seeing the deceased during the week of June 7, 2009. The deceased's locked herself out of her

---

<sup>1</sup> Christopher Miller, the lead investigator, testified that he learned from the family of the deceased that Appellant and the deceased had an argument and Appellant had left. R. 224, line 20 – R. 225, line 1.

<sup>2</sup> The deceased's body was found on June 13, 2009, and the autopsy was performed on June 15, 2009. Based on the pathologist's estimate, the death occurred between June 7, 2009 and June 10, 2009.

apartment and went to Murdaugh's house for help. Murdaugh assured the deceased that the landlord would return to the complex soon. R. 106, lines 12 – 19; R. 107, line 25 – R. 108, line 10. Murdaugh did not recall the actual date or even the day that this event occurred, but upon prompting from the prosecutor agreed that it may have been Sunday, June 7, 2009. Also, he was unsure of what time of day this occurred, but testified that it was early in the day. R. 108, lines 11 – 21. Murdaugh never saw the deceased again. R. 109, lines 20 – 21. Thus, the last time anyone saw the deceased alive was on June 7, 2009, and her body was found on June 13, 2009.

Jo Lynn Wood also lived in the apartments near the deceased in June 2009. R. 114, lines 6 – 16; R. 115, lines 9 – 14. Wood recalled seeing the deceased approximately a week and a half before her body was found when during the early morning hours, the deceased had gone to Wood's apartment trying to sell her shampoo. R. 115, lines 17 -- 23. After the deceased body was found, Wood informed the police that she had seen Appellant going in and out of the apartment twice at night during the previous week. R. 117, lines 2 – 4; R. 117, lines 5 – 9; R. 117, lines 17 – 23. On cross-examination, Wood clarified that it was not unusual for her to see Appellant at the apartment at night. In fact, she saw him on a weekly basis around the same time. R. 123, lines 8 – 11; R. 123, lines 23.

In June 2009, Larry White was living on the streets in Greenville. He chose to be homeless because he "like[d] to explore and go from state-to-state, seeing how other states [are] and then compare it to [his] state." R. 24, lines 10 – 18. White claimed that he talked to Appellant on a particularly hot day in June as he sat on a shaded bench behind Able Body, a labor hall. He recalled it was a Sunday because Able Body was

closed. He could not remember the date, but agreed with the prosecutor who suggested it was June 9, 2009.<sup>3</sup> R. 24, lines 22 – 24. R. 25, lines 2-22. R. 27, lines 7 – 12. He saw a young man, whom he identified as Appellant, drinking a beer and crying. When White asked what was wrong, the man allegedly responded “I done fucked up bad, real bad.” R. 25, line 24 – R. 26, line 3. White claimed Appellant said, “It’s going to fuck my sister up when I tell her what I done.” Tr. 129, lines 15 – 17. In response to White’s questioning, Appellant explained “I went in the house and found my girl dead, man. The dope boys cut my girl all up, pulled her panties down to her ankles and put her in the bathtub.” R. 26, lines 18 – 20; R. 29, lines 12 – 14. Upon seeing the deceased, Appellant ran out the house. When White asked why he did not call the police, Appellant responded that the police would think he had committed the crime because it was his girlfriend. R. 26, lines 21 – 24; R. 28, lines 15 – 24.

Even on direct examination, White admitted that Appellant did not state that he had hurt the deceased or committed the crime. White related only that Appellant continued to cry during their conversation. R. 27, lines 1 – 12. The prosecutor continued to press White regarding what Appellant could have done that was so bad. R. 27, lines 13 – 14. White responded that Appellant “hesitated for a while,” then looked at White, “did like this on the table,” and said “but you ain’t never killed nobody.” R. 27, lines 15 – 18; R. 40, lines 12 – 16.

White further claimed that Appellant said he was going to Kentucky and had purchased a bus ticket for the trip. Although White was unable to see the location or the

---

<sup>3</sup> June 9, 2009 was a Tuesday. R. 66, lines 7 – 13.

time on the ticket, he did observe a Greyhound bus ticket in Appellant's possession. R. 28, lines 2 – 5; R. 70, lines 10 – 12; R. 70, lines 16 – 22.<sup>4</sup>

A couple of days later, White overheard other people discussing the murder of a young lady while at the labor hall. The people explained that she had been “cut up and stabbed real, real bad.” R. 32, lines 17 – 22. Upon hearing that a woman had been stabbed, White thought of his alleged conversation with Appellant. R. 32, line 24 – R. 33, line 4. White was forced to admit that in addition to overhearing the conversation among other homeless individuals regarding the murder, he also saw police officers showing a photograph of an individual and asking for help to solve a crime. R. 40, line 17 – R. 41, line 10. White, however, denied ever seeing the photograph. R. 46, lines 1 – 4; R. 49, lines 1 – 7. Despite this assertion at trial, White was forced to admit that he told police he “did not really look at the picture at first” when the officers were displaying it. R. 50, lines 11 – 18; R. 56, lines 10 – 16. Additionally, White informed police that he told the employee of the labor hall that the man in the photograph shown by the police was the same man he had talked to a week earlier. R. 52, lines 10 – 15; R. 56, lines 17 – 24.

Sometime later in the month of June, White asked an employee of the labor hall to call the police. Although White was unable to recall when he actually spoke to the police or even when he decided to speak to the police, he agreed with the prosecutor that it was probably around June 18, 2009. White gave a formal statement at the conclusion of his two to four hour interview. R. 33, lines 4 – 9; R. 33, lines 12 – 23; R. 34, lines 18 – 20.

---

<sup>4</sup> An officer testified that in September 2010, he picked up Appellant from New York and returned him to Greenville, South Carolina. R. 5, line 5 – R. 6, line 16.

White testified his formal statement provided a true and accurate account of his conversation with Appellant. R. 35, lines 9 – 22; R. 40, lines 5 – 10. White selected Appellant's photograph from a photographic lineup. R. 36, lines 5 – 8; R. 37, lines 10 – 21. Additionally, White identified Appellant in court. R. 38, lines 18 – 23. White claimed that he got involved in the case because he was "brought up in a church" and "brought up to do the right thing." R. 41, lines 21 – 22.

No physical evidence connected Appellant to the murder. Christopher Gray, a latent print examiner, testified that prints from the toilet in the bathroom where the deceased's body was found were identified as being made by Appellant. Specifically, Appellant's left palm print was recovered from the exterior top of the toilet lid in two areas and Appellant's right palm print was recovered from the exterior top of the bathtub. R. 132, line 13 – R. 134, line 2. On cross-examination, Gray clarified that the prints were found on toilet tank lid and none of the prints were in blood. R. 135, line 17 – R. 136, lines 10; R. 137, lines 1 – 3.

Jonathan Hamilton, a crime scene investigator, found a single droplet of blood at the entrance way on the floor and a single droplet of blood on the kitchen floor. R. 144, line 22 – R. 145, line 3.<sup>5</sup> Hamilton testified that the deceased's body was wedged between the toilet and the tub. R. 169, lines 11 – 18. Hamilton found suspected blood on the toilet lid which indicated to him that at one point the lid had been up. R. 170, lines 3 – 17. Adrienne Hefney, a SLED DNA analyst, tested the swabs that were collected from the single droplet of blood on the floor of the entryway and from the kitchen floor. R.

---

<sup>5</sup> Christopher Miller, the lead investigator, testified that he did not even see the blood at the very bottom of the steps near the entryway when he entered. R. 215, lines 1-4.

193, lines 12 – 17. The profiles developed from the swabs indicated female DNA. R. 194, lines 7 – 11. Jagannadha Kandala, a DNA analyst with the Greenville County Department of Public Safety tested three areas of the deceased's shirt. R. 202, line 16 – R. 204, line 13. Dr. Kandala developed partial profiles from the shirt samples. R. 205, lines 3 – 10. Dr. Kandala compared the partial profiles developed from the shirt samples with the profiles developed by SLED from the entrance way and the kitchen floor. Dr. Kandala opined that the DNA from the shirt samples matched the DNA from the blood spots found on the floor. R. 205, line 11 – R. 206, line 3.

At the close of the state's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal. R. 241, lines 6 – 8. Specifically, Appellant argued that the state had failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tended to prove his guilt. Appellant argued that the evidence, at best, showed "mere suspicion." R. 242, lines 10 – 18. The state responded simply that "there [was] enough evidence - - from which the jury could rightfully convict" Appellant. R. 242, lines 21 – 25. The trial judge found there existed "sufficient evidence, taking it as a whole, direct and circumstantial, for the jury to make a decision on this." Thus, he denied Appellant's motion. R. 243, lines 1 – 6.

The prosecutor's closing argument reinforced the lack of evidence against Appellant. The prosecutor began by referring to the "tons of raw emotion" displayed by the deceased's family and the "horrific images" entered into evidence by the prosecution. R. 244, line 24 – R. 245, line 1. In referring to the evidence to indicate that Appellant was the actual perpetrator, the prosecutor noted that this was not a case where Appellant was found standing over the deceased's body with a bloody knife. Despite this lack of direct evidence, the prosecutor argued that evidence indicated Appellant was the

perpetrator. R. 247, lines 3 – 11. The prosecutor argued that Murdaugh had seen the deceased on Sunday morning, June 7 at 10 a.m. and no one had seen her after that date. R. 247, lines 12 – 16. Thus, the last time she was seen alive was on June 7 and her body was found on June 13, meaning she died sometime between June 7 and June 10. The prosecutor then turned to the testimony of White. Allegedly, Appellant told White that his girlfriend was dead because she had been stabbed repeatedly by the dope man. Appellant allegedly said the deceased's mother had paid for her drug debts previously, but the deceased's mother blew this "out of the water" when she testified she had never paid off drug debts for the deceased. The prosecutor made the feeble argument that Appellant's alleged response to White's question about what could he have done that was so bad, which was "you ain't never killed nobody," was an indication that Appellant had killed the deceased. R. 247, line 17 – R. 248, line 15; R. 249, lines 17 – 23. The prosecutor also relied upon the testimony of Wood, who claimed she saw Appellant at least twice around the time of the deceased death to place Appellant in the area. R. 249, line 24 – R. 250, line 18.

Concerning the physical evidence, the prosecutor referred to Appellant's palm print found on top of the toilet and on top of the tub and asked the jury why the prints would be there. R. 252, line 19 – R. 253, lines 6. The prosecutor, without any evidence to support her, argued that Appellant dropped blood belonging to the deceased at the bottom of the stairs and in the kitchen. R. 253, lines 7 – 14.

The prosecution concluded by noting the police had not been able "to come up with anybody that they can point the finger to, say, maybe this person did this." As a result, "[t]he only suspect was in, and is now, [Appellant]." R. 253, lines 14 – 24. The

prosecutor was so desperate for a conviction in light of the lack of evidence against Appellant, she even showed the jury a photograph of the victim, which had not been admitted into evidence, during her closing argument. Again, the prosecutor was appealing to the emotions of the jury because she had no evidence against Appellant. R. 255, line 14 – R. 260, line 3.<sup>6</sup>

The jury expressed its confusion on being asked to determine Appellant's guilt based upon the paucity of evidence when it inquired whether Appellant was right-handed or left-handed and sought guidance regarding the level of murder with which Appellant was charged. R. 277, lines 4-9; R. 284 (jury note). The judge responded that the jury had all of the evidence and re-instructed the jury concerning the elements of murder. R. 278, line 2 – R. 280, line 17.

After the jury returned guilty verdicts, Appellant renewed her previous motions. R. 282, lines 9-10. The judge responded: "Well, I think the jury has spoken on this case. As I said before, I think there is – certainly was sufficient direct evidence and substantial circumstantial evidence for a jury to make this determination, rather than I. I believe the jury has spoken. I will deny your motion, respectfully." R. 282, lines 11-16.

---

<sup>6</sup> Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial based upon the prosecutor's misconduct. The judge sustained Appellant's objection and issued a curative instruction to the jury. R. 260, lines 8-20.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in failing to grant Appellant's motion for directed verdict where the only evidence presented by the prosecution was that Appellant allegedly confided in a stranger that he was distraught because he saw the deceased had been murdered in their apartment, but took no action to report the murder to the police.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 103S.C. 437, 88 S.E.2d 1916; State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006); State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused," the trial judge may deny the motion for directed verdict. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001); State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000); State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000). When the prosecution relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge must direct a verdict in the defendant's favor unless there is any substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011); State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000). Likewise, a directed verdict is appropriate when the evidence produced "merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty." Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 389-390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004); State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-452 (1984); State v. Muhammed, 338 S.C. 22, 524 S.E.2d 637 (Ct. App. 1999). Our courts define suspicion as "a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon

facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Hyder, 242 S.C. 372, 131 S.E.2d 96 (1963).

In Mitchell, 341 S.C. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127, the South Carolina Supreme Court held the lower court erred in failing to direct a verdict where the only evidence presented against the defendant was his fingerprint at the scene of the burglary. Likewise, the Lollis Court directed a verdict of acquittal in the defendant’s favor where the state presented no direct evidence that Lollis was involved in setting fire to his home. The only circumstantial evidence against Lollis was that his wife admitted to the arson, he had placed valuables in storage prior to the fire, he possessed a key to the storage unit, and he allegedly had financial troubles. Our state supreme court found this evidence insufficient. Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584-585, 541 S.E.2d at 256-257.

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