ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RALPH B. HAYES,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2012-213261.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYCIE S. TIMMONS  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 100237

South Carolina Office of Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3030

W. WALTER WILKINS  
Solicitor

ATTORNEY(S) FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED  
NOV 07 2013

SC Court of Appeals

### **APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge erred in failing to grant Appellant's motion for directed verdict where the only evidence presented by the prosecution was that Appellant allegedly confided in a stranger that he was distraught because he saw the deceased had been murdered in their apartment, but took no action to report the murder to the police.

### **RESPONDENT'S COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State, erred in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict where substantial circumstantial evidence existed tending to prove the guilt of Appellant, including testimony that when Appellant was asked what was so bad, he responded, "[B]ut you ain't never killed nobody."

## **RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Ralph Hayes, in October 2011 for the murder of Jacquelyn Alexander and for the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Indictment Number 2011-GS-23-7681. On October 15, 2012, Appellant's case was called to trial before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker. Transcript 1. Appellant was represented by Caroline Horlbeck and Teal Johnson during the three-day trial. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Judy Munson and Wanda Adams represented the State. R. 1. On October 17, 2012, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts. R. 281, ll. 1 – 23. Judge Welmaker sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for murder and to five years for possession of a weapon. R. 283, ll. 11 – 17. Thereafter, on October 29, 2012, Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

## RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Discovery of Victim's Body

On Saturday, June 13, 2009, Barbara McNeil went to check on her sister, Jacquelyn Alexander (Victim), at the apartment where Victim lived in Greenville, South Carolina. R. 9, ll. 1 – 17. McNeil had last spoken to Victim on Thursday, June 4, 2009. R. 9, ll. 13 – 19. McNeil arrived at the apartment around 4 o'clock in the afternoon. R. 9, ll. 20 – 23. McNeil knocked on the door, but she did not get an answer. R. 9, l. 24 – 10, l. 2. She tried the knob and found that the door was open, so she walked in. R. 10, ll. 2 – 3. Inside the apartment, McNeil called for her sister but received no answer. R. 10, l. 4. McNeil also tried calling Victim's phone, and though the phone was sitting on the table, it did not ring. R. 10, ll. 5 – 7; 12, ll. 1 – 8. McNeil began to walk through the apartment. R. 10, l. 7.

As McNeil walked through the living room and the kitchen on the first floor of the apartment, she noticed that the living room set she had given her sister was intact. R. 10, ll. 8 – 12. McNeil also noticed that nothing in the apartment seemed disturbed. R. 11, ll. 17 – 25. All the while, McNeil continued calling for her sister, but no one answered. R. 10, ll. 12 – 13. McNeil then went upstairs to continue looking for Victim. R. 10, ll. 14 – 15. When McNeil got upstairs, she saw Victim in the "bathroom on the floor dead. [She] saw blood everywhere." R. 10, 15 – 18.

McNeil was so upset by what she saw that she had a seizure and fell down the stairs. R. 11, ll. 4 – 7. She then called her father, who had trouble understanding what McNeil was trying to tell him but told her that he was coming over. R. 10, ll. 19 – 22. McNeil also tried to call the police, but they, too, had trouble understanding her, and a neighbor had to take the phone from McNeil to tell the police to come to the apartment. R. 10, ll. 19 – 25.

Deputy Ashleigh Swanson with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office (GCSO) responded to apartment number 18 at \*\*\*\*\* in Greenville County, South Carolina the night of June 13, 2009. R. 77, ll. 5 – 22. Swanson arrived on the scene just after 9 p.m. R. 77, ll. 18 – 19. Swanson was the first law enforcement officer on the scene, but she discovered that the fire department had already arrived and had gone inside the apartment. R. 78, ll. 7 – 19. EMS, who had also arrived, had not gone into the apartment. R. 78; ll. 14 – 16. When Swanson surveyed the scene, she did not see any signs of struggle. R. 82, ll. 15 – 19. Swanson went into the apartment and found Victim in the upstairs bathroom. R. 79, ll. 1 – 4. Victim was deceased. R. 79, ll. 5 – 6. Victim's clothing had been pulled down below her waist, such that she was partially naked. R. 79, ll. 5 – 7. Swanson noticed that there was blood on the ground and a strong, distinguishable odor coming from the area where Victim was found. R. 79, ll. 8 – 12. However, there was not much blood outside of the bathroom according to Swanson. R. 82, ll. 20 – 23.

Detective Christopher Miller with the homicide unit of the GCSO was the on-call investigator the night of June 13, 2009. R. 211, l. 6 – 213, l. 6. He went to Victim's apartment to oversee the scene that night. R. 213, ll. 7 – 23. When Miller initially assessed the scene, he was unable to tell if a crime had even been committed. R. 213, l. 24 – 214, l. 23. According to Miller, due to the state of decomposition of Victim's body, investigators could not tell if Victim had died from natural causes, from suicide, or from homicide. R. 214, ll. 8 – 15. As to the apartment, nothing was disturbed either upstairs or downstairs. R. 214, ll. 16 – 23. Miller found the scene "puzzling." R. 214, ll. 16 – 23.

Miller changed his mind about what had happened at the apartment after Forensics Officer Jonathan Hamilton discovered one drop of suspected blood at the bottom of the stairs and

one drop of suspected blood in the kitchen. R. 214, l. 24 – 215, l. 4. Hamilton tested the droplets and determined that both droplets were blood.<sup>1</sup> R. 145, l. 19 – 146, l. 16; 163, l. – 164, l. 20; 165, l. 15 – 166, l. 12. Miller knew that those drops of blood could not have gotten to those locations by Victim because she was upstairs in the bathroom. R. 215, ll. 4 – 8. At that point, Miller decided to treat Victim’s death as a homicide. R. 2151, ll. 9 – 11.

Hamilton discovered blood spatter in the downstairs bathroom attached to the kitchen. R. 144, l. 22 – 145, l. 16. The downstairs bathroom was directly under the upstairs bathroom where Victim’s body was found. R. 145, ll. 8 – 12. The spatter found in the downstairs bathroom resulted from bodily fluids seeping through the exhaust fan on the ceiling of the downstairs bathroom and dripping onto the floor. R. 145, ll. 8 – 16.

In the upstairs bathroom, Hamilton photographed Victim, who was found laying on her right side between the toilet and the bathtub. R. 169, ll. 9 – 14. Hamilton observed bodily fluids on the bathroom floor. R. 169, ll. 15 – 18. Hamilton found suspected blood on the toilet lid, on the side of the bathtub, and in different areas of the bathroom. R. 170, ll. 2 – 21. However, there was no blood visible in the sink area, and everything seemed in order on top of the sink. R. 169, l. 19 – 170, l. 1.

In an attempt to collect evidence from “[a]nywhere that could be affected and touched by anyone that could be involved with the crime . . . [,]” Hamilton collected latent print evidence from the doors of the house, including the exterior and interior of the front storm door, the exterior and interior of the front door, and the exterior and interior of the back door. R. 147, l. 21 – 148, l. 10. Of the prints lifted from doors, only Victim’s prints were identified. R. 138, l. 23 – 139, l. 3. Hamilton also processed the toilet tank lid, the toilet tank, the toilet seat, the bathtub,

---

<sup>1</sup> Both blood droplets were eventually found to match the female DNA taken from the shirt Victim was wearing when her body was discovered. R. 202, l. 16 – 206, l. 3.

and other areas in the upstairs bathroom for latent prints. R. 148, ll. 5 – 14. Christopher Gary, a latent print examiner with the Greenville County Department of Public Safety in the Forensic Division, was able to identify the following prints from Appellant on the exterior top of the upstairs toilet tank lid:<sup>2</sup> a left palm hypothenar<sup>3</sup> print (State’s Ex. 52), a left palm thenar print (State’s Ex. 54), and a left index finger print (State’s Ex. 53). R. 125, ll. 11 – 19; R. 132, l. 13 – 133, l. 19. Gary also identified a left palm interdigital print from Victim on the toilet tank lid. R. 133, ll. 20 – 23. Gary identified a print found on the exterior top of the upstairs bathtub as a right palm hypothenar print of Appellant. R. 133, l. 24 – 134, l. 2. None of the latent prints that Gary analyzed were made in blood. R. 137, ll. 1 – 3. Though Gary testified that there is no way to date a fingerprint, R. 129, ll. 6 – 11, he also testified that latent fingerprints are fragile and “can be easily wiped away or removed[.]” R. 139, l. 23 – 140, l. 6.

Dr. Michael Ward, the Chief Medical Examiner for Greenville County and an expert in the field of forensic pathology, conducted an autopsy of Victim on June 15, 2009. R. 84, l. 9 – 87, l. 11. During the external examination of the body, Dr. Ward found a total of twenty-eight separate and distinct stab wounds to Victim’s body. R. 88, ll. 15 – 19. Those stab wounds included one to the left neck, four to the stomach region, and twenty-three to the left upper and left mid-back. R. 88, ll. 19 – 21. Dr. Ward did not find any defensive wounds on Victim’s body.

---

<sup>2</sup> Though Gary initially testified that the prints were found on the toilet lid, he realized on cross-examination that the prints were taken from the toilet tank lid—specifically, State’s Exhibit 52 was taken from the top left side of the toilet tank lid, and State’s Exhibits 53 and 54 were taken from the more right portion of the toilet tank lid. R. 135, l. 1 – 136, l. 10.

<sup>3</sup> As explained by Gary, latent print examiners divide the palm up, to kind of break it down just a little bit, to different areas. You have three main areas of the palm. The top part is called the interdigital. The thumb side is called the thenar. And kind of the writer’s palm that you’d put down, the fatty part of the palm is called the hypothenar. R. 132, l. 21 – 133, l. 3.

R. 88, l. 22 – 89, l. 12. During the internal examination of the body, Dr. Ward found the following:

That there were stab wounds to the abdomen, which traumatized the left hemidiaphragm, which is the muscle that we use to breathe. And the stomach. There was trauma to the right hemidiaphragm, which, again, is the muscle that we use to breathe on the right side, and the lower lobe of the right lung. There was also a penetrating stab wound to the large intestine. Examination of the back revealed most of the stab wounds, most of the twenty-three stab wounds to the back to be superficial, in that they did not penetrate into the chest cavity. However, seven stab wounds did. Each of these seven stab wounds penetrated into the back part of the left lung causing trauma to that lung. So she had traumatic injuries to the left lung, seven; the lower lobe of the right lung, one; her stomach[;] the muscles that she used to breathe; and her large intestine.

R. 90, l. 12 – 91, l. 5. Dr. Ward opined that those injuries would have made it extremely difficult for Victim to breathe. R. 91, ll. 6 – 19. Additionally, blood would have been oozing from Victim's stab wounds, and she would also have had extensive internal bleeding into her pleural cavities. R. 91, ll. 16 – 23; R. 96, ll. 9 – 97, l. 3. In Dr. Ward's opinion, the difficulty breathing and the extensive internal bleeding led to Victim's death. R. 91, ll. 16 – 23. A toxicological examination was performed on Victim's liver, and the breakdown product of cocaine was identified. R. 91, l. 24 – 92, l. 10. Dr. Ward did not perform any type of sexual assault examination on Victim because the moderate state of decomposition of Victim's body led Dr. Ward to believe that such an examination would likely have been fruitless. R. 89, l. 22 – 90, l. 11. Given the conditions in which Victim's body was found and the level of decomposition present, Dr. Ward testified that, in his opinion, Victim had been dead for three to five days. R. 98, l. 9 – 99, l. 22.

After learning that Victim had been stabbed, Miller sent Tyler Bucholtz, who worked with the crime scene unit, back to the crime scene to collect additional evidence. R. 181, l. 24 –

182, l. 15. Bucholtz collected knives from the kitchen.<sup>4</sup> R. 182, l. 10 – 183, l. 9; 188, ll. 10 – 12. Bucholtz also discovered a knife laying on the pine straw just outside the front door. R. 183, ll. 1 – 22; 185, ll. 13 – 22. Bucholtz swabbed the handle and blade of that knife to be tested for forensic evidence. R. 186, l. 6 – 187, l. 2. Bucholtz also performed a presumptive test for bodily fluids in the upstairs bathroom of the apartment. R. 184, l. 6 – 186, l. 5. That test was positive for blood. R. 185, l. 23 – 186, l. 5. Of the swabs taken from the handle and blade of the knife and from the left and right side of the sink, three of the samples did not have any DNA, and one of the samples had some DNA but not enough for analysis. R. 206, l. 18 – 207, l. 22.

### Investigation

In accordance with his training, Miller decided to work Victim's homicide investigation "from the inside out," meaning that Miller began his investigation with the people who were closest to Victim. R. 216, ll. 12 – 16. Victim and Appellant had been in a relationship for about five years before her death. R. 12, ll. 19 – 21. The two had lived together in Atlanta, but then Victim moved to Greenville, and Appellant moved in with her. R. 18, ll. 2 – 11. Miller learned of the relationship but also learned that Appellant had not been seen in a while. R. 216, l. 12 – 217, l. 4. Victim's family told Miller that Victim and Appellant had an argument around the time Victim's family last heard from her and that Appellant had been asked to leave as a result of that argument. R. 236, ll. 4 – 19.

As part of the investigation, police officers spoke to Victim's neighbors about what they had seen in the weeks before Victim's body was discovered. R. 116, ll. 13 – 18. One of

---

<sup>4</sup> Hamilton tested the knives from the kitchen for blood when he processed the crime scene on the night of June 13, 2009, but the test was negative. R. 146, l. 17 – 147, l. 10. Hamilton left the knives in the kitchen because there was no evidentiary value. R. 147, ll. 6 – 10.

Victim's neighbors, a woman named Jo Lynn Wood, told police that she had seen Appellant coming in and out of Victim's apartment during the week that Victim's body was discovered. R. 116, l. 13 – 117, l. 23. The two times that Wood saw Appellant, she was outside of her own apartment at dusk or at night talking on the phone. R. 118, ll. 17 – 22; 123, ll. 8 – 15. Wood testified that she saw Appellant exit Victim's apartment and proceed up the parking lot, past Wood's apartment. R. 118, l. 20 – 119, l. 13. Though Wood could not remember the exact days that she had seen him, Wood was sure that the man she had seen was Appellant. R. 119, ll. 17 – 23.

Wood also testified that she had last seen Victim at the apartment complex about a week and a half before Victim's body was found. R. 115, ll. 17 – 20. Wood recalled that Victim came to Wood's apartment at around 1:30 or 2 o'clock one morning and tried to sell Wood shampoo. R. 115, ll. 20 – 23. Another of Victim's neighbors, Anthony Murdaugh saw Victim in the early morning of Sunday, June 7, 2009. R. 107, l. 25 – 109, l. 21. That morning, when Murdaugh stepped outside to smoke, he saw that Victim was locked out of her apartment. R. 108, ll. 3 – 25. He never saw her again after that. R. 109, ll. 20 – 21.

Law enforcement officers canvassed Victim's neighborhood the Monday afternoon after her body was discovered and tried to find out if anyone knew of Appellant's whereabouts. R. 216, l. 24 – 217, l. 3. No one had seen him. R. 217, ll. 3 – 4. Because Miller knew that Appellant had been homeless in the past, he had officers go to homeless shelters and soup kitchens to try and find Appellant. R. 217, ll. 4 – 10.

On Thursday, June 18, 2009, officers went to an area where a homeless man named Larry Dell White was going to sleep that night. R. 55, ll. 5 – 25. The officers showed Appellant's picture to some of the men in the area and asked if anyone had information about Appellant. R.

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